() P'/ FILED SID J.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______

JUL X 0 199

THE FLORIDA BAR

Case No. 84,978 [TFB Case No. 95-31,050 (07C)]

IN RE: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT

OF JOHN D. RUE

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

JAN WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801-1085 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 381586

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT9
ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING THAT THE PETITIONER BE REINSTATED TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW WHERE THE PETITIONER HAD ENGAGED IN SIGNIFICANT MISCONDUCT WHILE SUSPENDED, INCLUDING CONTINUING TO ADVERTISE HIMSELF AS AN AVAILABLE ATTORNEY.

CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX
APPENDIX INDEX



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

PAGE
<u>The Florida Bar in re Inglis</u> ,17 471 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1985)
<u>The Florida Bar in re Jahn</u> ,20 559 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 1990)
<u>The Florida Bar in re Janssen</u> ,20 643 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1994)
<u>The Florida Bar in re Lopez</u> ,21 545 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1989)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Stafford</u> ,16 542 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1989)
<u>In re: Cohen</u> ,
<u>In re Stoller</u> ,
<u>Petition of Wolf</u> ,12 257 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 1972)



TABLE OF OTHER AUTHORITIES

Rules of Discipline:

Rules of Professional Conduct:

4-1	5	(a)	٠	••	٠	•••	•	•	• •	•	•	•	 •	·	·	••	·	•	••	•	•	• •	•	•		•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•			•	.1	,5
4 - 1	5	(f)	(•	4)	(]	B)	•	•	•••	•	•	•	 •	•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•		•	•		•	•	• •	•	•	•••	•	•		• •	•	.1	, 5
4-1	8	(a)	•		•		•	•		•	•	•	 •	•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•					•	•	••	•	•	• •	•	•	.1	,5
4-1	8	(e)	•	•••	•		•	•		•	•	•	 •	•	•		•	•			•		•	•	• •		•		•	•		•	•	• •	, .	•	.1	,5
4 - 5	5.4	(a)	•	•••	•		•	•	• •	•	•	•		•	•	• •	•	•			•		•	•	••	•	•		•	•		•	•	• •	, .	•	.1	,5
4 - 8	8.6	(c)	•	•••	•		•	•		•		•	 •	•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•	•••	•	•			•		•	•		•			, .	•	.7	, 9
4 - 8	8.6	(e)			•		•	•							•			•									•							• •			.1	5

SYMBOLS AND REFERENCES

In this brief, the respondent, The Florida Bar, shall be referred to as "The Florida Bar" or "the bar."

The transcript of the final hearing held on May 2, 1995, shall be referred to as "T," followed by the cited page number.

The Report of Referee dated May 12, 1995, will be referred to as "ROR," followed by the referenced page number(s) of the Appendix, attached, (ROR-A-___).

The bar's exhibits will be referred to as Bar Ex.___, followed by the exhibit number.

The petitioner's exhibits will be referred to as Petitioner Ex. _____, followed by the exhibit number.

The petitioner was office manager for Allen A. Ziffra, P.A., during his suspension period. Prior to his suspension, this firm was Rue and Ziffra, P.A. This entity is referred to, throughout the brief, as "the firm."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Petition For Reinstatement regards John D. Rue, who was suspended by Order of the Supreme Court of Florida on October 20, 1994, as a result of this Court's finding that he was guilty of violating rules 4-1.5(a); 4-1.5(f)(4)(B), 4-1.8(a), 4-1.8(e), and 4-5.4(a) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The suspension was for a period of ninety-one (91) days, requiring proof of rehabilitation. In addition to the 91 day suspension, this Court further ordered that Mr. Rue take and pass the professional responsibility portion of the bar exam and be placed upon two years probation following the suspension. The Court's order further stated:

If Rue notifies this Court in writing that he is no longer practicing and does not need the thirty days to protect existing clients, this Court will enter an order making the suspension effective immediately. Rue shall accept no new business from the date this opinion is filed, <u>The Florida Bar v. Rue</u>, 643 So. 2d 1080, 1083 (Fla. 1994).

On October 26, 1994, counsel for Mr. Rue wrote to the Supreme Court of Florida and requested that the Court consider his letter as written notice that Mr. Rue was no longer practicing and would like the suspension to be effective

immediately. Accordingly, this Court allowed the petitioner to begin his suspension effective immediately. Prior to receiving notice that the Court had already granted Mr. Rue's request to be placed upon immediate suspension, The Florida Bar filed a Notice Bar's Objections to Petitioner's Suspension being of the Effective Immediately. The bar noted that its investigation indicated the petitioner continued to advertise for new clients subsequent to October 20, 1994, and argued that the petitioner had an active practice of law and even continued to seek new business after October 20, 1994. Thereafter, Mr. Rue filed a Motion To Strike Bar's Notice Of Objection, Motion For Sanctions, and Response To Objection. The Florida Bar filed a response to the petitioner's previous motions and the Court, on December 7, 1994, denied Mr. Rue's Motion For Sanctions.

On January 12, 1995, this Court granted Mr. Rue's Petition For Leave To File Early Petition For Reinstatement and noted the Petition For Reinstatement was filed on January 10, 1995. On January 23, 1995, the referee was appointed. On January 26, 1995, Mr. Rue, the petitioner, filed a Motion To Set Expedited Final Hearing. On January 30, 1995, The Florida Bar responded to the Motion To Set Expedited Final Hearing, objected to this

request and sought sufficient time to properly investigate the petition. On February 2, 1995, the petitioner replied to the bar's response and the matter was heard by telephone hearing before the referee who scheduled the matter for final hearing on Wednesday, March 8, 1995.

On March 3, 1995, The Florida Bar filed a Motion For A Continuance, its first and only in this case, requesting further time to adequately investigate the petitioner's fitness to practice law as issues needing further investigation had come to the attention of bar counsel during late February and early March, 1995. The referee had a telephone hearing on the bar's Motion For Continuance, granted it, and rescheduled the final hearing for May 2, 1995. The final hearing was held accordingly on May 2, 1995. It is noted that the final hearing on the Petition For Reinstatement was held within fourteen (14) weeks and one (1) day of the appointment of the referee. The order appointing the referee had directed that his report be filed within 180 days or approximately 28 weeks.

The Report Of Referee was signed May 12, 1995, and the referee recommended that the petitioner be reinstated to the practice of law. No mention was made of any probation period as

required by the previous disciplinary suspension order.

The board of governors considered the Report Of Referee at its May, 1995, meeting and directed bar counsel to seek review of the referee's recommendation of reinstatement in view of the petitioner's apparent misconduct while suspended. The Florida Bar filed a Petition For Review accordingly on June 6, 1995. On June 9, 1995, the petitioner filed a Motion To Expedite Briefing Schedule. The bar objected and the Court denied the motion on June 21, 1995.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 20, 1994, the Supreme Court of Florida suspended Rue for 91 days for engaging in violations of Rules Mr. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.4(a) for improperly sharing fees with a nonlawyer, 4-1.8(a) for improperly entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring another pecuniary interest adverse to a client without meeting the proper requirements, 4-1.8(e) for improperly providing financial assistance to a client in connection with pending or contemplated litigation, 4-1.5(a) for entering into an agreement for, charging or collecting an illegal, prohibited, and/or clearly excessive fee, and 4-1.5(f)(4)(B) for having a written contingency fee contract providing for a legal fee in excess of 33 1/3 percent of the recovery with respect to the PIP recovery fee. In suspending Court required that he petition and prove Mr. Rue, the rehabilitation prior to reinstatement and, as a condition of rehabilitation, he take and pass the ethics portion of The Florida Bar exam, pay all costs associated with the exam and be placed on probation for two (2) years following the suspension. Prior to the final hearing in the reinstatement matter, Mr. Rue

demonstrated proof that he had taken and passed the ethics portion of The Florida Bar exam and paid his costs as applicable.

In his petition for reinstatement, Mr. Rue set forth factual information regarding his status during his suspension. During his suspension, Mr. Rue worked as office manager for his previous firm, Allan A. Ziffra, P.A., formerly known as Rue and Ziffra, P.A., ("the firm"). No adverse information relating to Mr. Rue's petition for reinstatement was evidenced other than as indicated below.

The Florida Bar's routine investigation indicated that the petitioner had continued to seek new clients after the date of his suspension by means of substantial advertising.

The Florida Bar argued that the petitioner had misrepresented his "not practicing" status to the Supreme Court of Florida in his counsel's letter of October 26, 1994. By Mr. Rue's own admission, he had over ninety (90) pending cases as of October 26, 1994, Petitioner Ex. 5. On October 26, 1995, his office was engaged in a media blitz of advertising known as "Biketoberfest," T-19.

Mr. Rue's firm, with his knowledge, placed full page advertisements in telephone "yellow pages" directories

proclaiming the petitioner's availability as an attorney after being informed of Mr. Rue's suspension, T-37, 72. Further, neither the firm nor the petitioner attempted to delete an advertisement that was purchased, prior to his suspension, for publication in the January, 1995, <u>Flagler County Shopping</u> <u>Directory</u>, T-111-112.

The petitioner was the spokesman, unidentified by name, for his previous firm in a television ad while he was suspended. In the ad, Mr. Rue's statements included, "Attorneys for bikers. We represent motorcycle riders who have been injured by the carelessness of others," Bar Ex. 4, p.2.

Additionally, Mr. Rue's name was not deleted from his firm's office and trust bank accounts until shortly before the reinstatement final hearing, T-23. Further, the entity of Rue and Ziffra, P.A., remained on file with the Secretary of the State of Florida at the time of the final hearing on the Petition For Review, indicating Mr. Rue was a member of the board of directors. No amendments were ever filed, T-115, Petitioner Ex. 11. Rule 4-8.6(c) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar states, "No person shall serve as a director or executive officer of a professional service corporation engaged in the practice of

law in Florida unless such person is legally qualified to render legal services in this state."

Additionally, on March 11, 1995, a newspaper story was run regarding the firm's participation in a "Bike Week" charity event, Bar Ex.3. The reporter was never advised of Mr. Rue's suspension and her article referred to Mr. Rue as the "founding partner" of the firm. The petitioner sated during the final hearing that he believed he had been treated differently than other lawyers by The Florida Bar, T-75. No evidence that The Florida Bar had singled out Mr. Rue for special investigation or prosecution was presented.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The petitioner has failed to present the requisite evidence that he is a rehabilitated attorney.

During his suspension period, the petitioner obtained an immediate suspension by misstating his status to the court. The petitioner insinuated that his temporary vacation equated to the nonpracticing status required by this Court to grant an immediate suspension.

Further, the petitioner engaged in extensive advertising, holding himself out to the public as a practicing member in good standing, subsequent to his suspension. By such conduct, the petitioner effectively "thumbed his nose" at this Court and this Court's requirements imposed upon suspended attorneys.

Further, the petitioner remained a member of the board of directors of his law firm pursuant to the records on file with Florida's Secretary of State. This conduct violates R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.6(c). The petitioner's name also remained on the title of his firm's bank accounts until shortly before the final hearing. The petitioner's firm failed to identify Mr. Rue as a suspended attorney when a newspaper article

was run describing Mr. Rue as a "founding partner" of the law firm. The petitioner evidenced ill feelings toward The Florida Bar, by expressing his feelings that the bar had treated him differently, without any evidence of such discrimination.

Such conduct warrants denial of the Petition For Reinstatement. He should not be reinstated until such time as the petitioner can demonstrate that he has fully complied with the rules and refrained from advertising his availability to the public for at least a period of ninety-one (91) days.

omitting The Report of Referee erred in at least acknowledging that adverse evidence had been presented against the petitioner. It further erred in failing to recommend the two year period of probation required by the previous Court order. Denial of the reinstatement is required at this time, with the condition that no further petition for reinstatement be tendered until the petitioner can demonstrate that a period of ninety-one (91) days have passed when his name has not been advertised as a legal services provider.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING THAT THE PETITIONER BE REINSTATED TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW WHERE THE PETITIONER HAD ENGAGED IN SIGNIFICANT MISCONDUCT WHILE SUSPENDED, INCLUDING CONTINUING TO ADVERTISE HIMSELF AS AN AVAILABLE ATTORNEY.

It is well settled that in proceedings concerning a petitioner's fitness to be reinstated to the practice of law, several factors are relevant. The Supreme Court of Florida has defined six elements of proof necessary for a petitioner to demonstrate his fitness for reinstatement to the practice of law:

1. Evidence of strict compliance with the specific conditions of the disciplinary order, such as payment of costs.

2. Evidence of unimpeachable character and moral standing in the community.

3. Clear evidence of a good reputation for professional ability.

4. Evidence of a lack of malice and ill feeling by the petitioner toward those who, by duty, were compelled to bring about the disciplinary proceeding.

5. Personal assurances, supported by corroborating

evidence, revealing a sense of repentance, as well as a desire and intention of the petitioner to conduct himself in an exemplary fashion in the future.

6. In cases involving misappropriation of funds, restitution is important, <u>Petition of Wolf</u>, 257 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 1972).

the Wolf case, above, In an attorney was denied reinstatement, despite the lapse of the time required for his suspension period, where he failed to demonstrate his fitness for reinstatement to the practice of law. In denying reinstatement, the Court noted that the greatest obligation in these proceedings is owed to protecting the public as well as the image and integrity of The Florida Bar. The Court further noted, "The license to practice law is a privilege, not a right, and the lawyer who has been disbarred must sustain a heavy burden proving his fitness in terms of integrity as well as professional competency. It is not enough merely to show that he has showed a sufficient term of punishment," Wolf, supra at p. 548.

At the final hearing on John D. Rue's petition for reinstatement to The Florida Bar, the bar presented the following unrebutted evidence:

Mr. Rue misrepresented his status in his counsel's letter to the Supreme Court of Florida dated October 26, 1994, requesting that Mr. Rue's suspension be effective immediately as Mr. Rue was no longer practicing law due to a vacation. The fact was that Mr. Rue was indeed practicing law and had over ninety (90) current client matters pending on October 20, 1994. This information was made known to the bar in Mr. Rue's notice filed with it pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g), Petitioner 6. Further, at the time the petitioner requested his Ex. suspension begin early, his firm was in the midst of conducting an advertising blitz known as "Biketoberfest," T-19. By order dated October 26, 1994, the Supreme Court of Florida allowed Mr. Rue's suspension to take effect immediately based upon the representations made to it by him through counsel. Thereafter, the firm continued to use stationery bearing the name "Rue & Ziffra, P.A., " through approximately October 30, 1994, T-18. Rue & Ziffra had a sign in front of its law office. The sign was not covered up, correcting the advertisement that Mr. Rue was an attorney available to provide services, until November 2, 1994, T-19. In addition to television and newspaper advertisements, billboards were also extensively used to advertise Mr. Rue's

continuing availability as an attorney as of October 20, 1994, and these billboards continued to proclaim Mr. Rue's availability until approximately the middle of November, 1994, T-36. The television ads that included Mr. Rue's name continued to air for approximately two weeks after his suspension, T-20. Rue and Ziffra had advertisements in the 1994 "yellow pages" telephone These remained in force and, in fact, new directories. advertisements were contracted for with the telephone directory publisher subsequent to and with knowledge of Mr. Rue's Further, Mr. Rue's name remained on all office suspension. accounts, including the office expense account and trust account, as Rue and Ziffra, P.A., T-40-41. The petitioner countered these allegations with these assertions describing the efforts made and the time needed to curtail his ongoing practice. Obviously, these problems were caused by his misstatement to the Court to the effect that he was no longer practicing law and did not need thirty (30) days to wind up his practice. Of course, an immediate suspension also allowed Mr. Rue to petition for an earlier reinstatement than he would have been afforded otherwise.

Further, Mr. Rue did a voice over for a television ad on behalf of the firm during his suspension, Bar Ex. 4. His

identity was not stated during the television ad, but Mr. Rue was well known in the "biker" community, to whom the ads were directed. In the ad, Mr. Rue's distinctive voice, T-114, stated, "Attorneys for bikers. We represent motorcycle riders who have been injured by the carelessness of others, 1.Bar Ex. 4, p.2.

Further, a newspaper interview was conducted with Mr. Ziffra during Mr. Rue's suspension regarding a charity sponsored by the firm. The newspaper article referenced Mr. Rue as the "founding partner" of the firm, Bar Ex. 3. No one from the law firm ever advised the reporter that Mr. Rue was suspended from the practice of law.

Rule 4-8.6(e) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar requires attorneys to forfeit ownership in their law firms upon suspensions greater than ninety-one (91) days. Mr. Rue transferred his stock certificates upon his suspension. Under partner testified that Mr. oath, Mr. Rue's former Rue transferred the shares to him, Allan L. Ziffra, T-13-14, Petitioner's Ex. 2. Mr. Ziffra also testified that Mr. Rue did not transfer the shares to him, but rather had signed them back over to the corporation and no consideration was paid, T-34. The Florida Secretary of State received no notice from either the

petitioner or anyone in his law firm directing the removal of Mr. Rue's name as a principal from the incorporation documents. He remained a principal throughout his suspension period and the reinstatement proceedings, including the date of final hearing. This evidence makes it questionable as to whether or not an actual transfer of Mr. Rue's ownership interest took place.

Additionally, evidence was presented to the effect that the petitioner currently believes he has been improperly targeted by The Florida Bar, T-75. No evidence was presented that there is any reasonable basis for this belief. This indicates that the petitioner continues to feel malice toward those who were required, by duty, to act in the discipline case.

The referee neither acknowledged nor commented on any of the above evidence in his report of referee recommending that the petitioner be reinstated to the practice of law.

The Florida Bar is well aware that this Court gives great weight to a referee's findings of facts, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Stafford</u>, 542 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1989). Nevertheless, this Court has acknowledged that its scope of review is broader with respect to the legal conclusions and recommendations of the referee, as it is ultimately this Court's obligation to judge the case

appropriately, <u>The Florida Bar in re Inglis</u>, 471 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Inglis</u>, this Court reviewed a report of referee regarding a petition for reinstatement and determined that the referee had erred in arriving at the findings of fact, conclusions, and recommendation. The Court, in reviewing a business transaction involving the attorney, found that an arm'slength transaction had taken place and no legal duties were violated, despite the referee's findings to the contrary. Further, the Court concluded that a previous criminal incident was erroneously used by the referee as a factor. The criminal incident had taken place a lengthy period of time prior to the reinstatement hearing.

The referee erred similarly in the case at hand. The referee failed to even mention the misconduct brought to his attention by the bar. The report simply made a broad conclusion without reference to the particular circumstances of this case. Further, the Report of Referee erred in its failure to provide for the two year period of probation mandated by this Court's order of October 20, 1994.

It is apparent that the referee misapprehended or overlooked the above evidence in evaluating Mr. Rue's fitness for

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