IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 81 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Charl Reputy Glock

THE FLORIDA BAR

Case Number 84,978

IN RE: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT

OF JOHN D. RUE

PETITIONER'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss WEISS & ETKIN 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway Suite B-2 Tallahassee, FL 32308 (904) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Rue has presented overwhelming evidence of his rehabilitation. He has complied with all of the requirements set forth in the Court's original order of discipline and in the seminal case of <u>In re Petition of Dawson</u>, 131 So.2d 472, 474 (Fla. 1961).

The referee properly recommended Mr. Rue's reinstatement to practice after finding that he met his burden of proving rehabilitation. The Florida Bar has the burden to prove that the referee's findings and conclusions are wholly without evidentiary support in the record. The Florida Bar v Vannier, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v Rue, 643 So.2d 1080, 1082 (Fla. 1994). The Bar, which presented no witnesses save its own staff investigator has not met its burden of proving that the referee's recommendations are improper.

Mr. Rue was in France at the time his suspension order came down on October 20, 1994. Three days later he assigned all of his stock in Rue & Ziffra, P.A., to his partner. He did not return to the United States until November 2, 1994. There is no evidence in the record rebutting his testimony that he has not represented any clients, or signed any clients up, since his suspension began.

On the Monday following Mr. Rue's suspension his then-partner, Allan Ziffra, took steps to cancel Rue & Ziffra, P.A. advertising on the airways and on the billboards. He ordered a cover for the sign in front of the office, which was installed on November 2, 1994, and he ordered new stationery for his new law firm, Allan L.

Ziffra, P.A. That stationery arrived on October 30, 1994 and has been used ever since. No clients have been signed up for the law office of Rue & Ziffra, P.A. since October 20, 1994. All new clients are in the firm of Allan L. Ziffra, P.A.

Upon his return to the United States, Mr. Rue promptly transmitted copies of his order of suspension to all clients whose matters he was handling. In addition to that, he had copies of the order sent to all the judges in the Seventh Judicial Circuit and to all defense firms and insurance companies with whom the firm of Rue & Ziffra, P.A. had been dealing. Sending copies of the order to judges, adverse counsel and insurance companies is not required by the Rules of Discipline.

Mr. Rue has been a full time employee of Allan L. Ziffra, P.A. since his return to the United States. With but one minor exception, he has complied with the rules and has not met with any clients since his suspension began. He has not handled trust funds or signed any trust account checks since his suspension began.

Mr. Rue's evidence that he has a good reputation in the community is unrebutted. He presented evidence of a good reputation for professional ability and showed that he is keeping abreast of current developments in the law by taking thirteen hours of CLE courses. His charitable works in the community are varied and plentiful.

Mr. Rue discontinued the conduct for which he was ultimately found guilty before final hearing in his original disciplinary case in February 1993. His steps to discontinue the conduct the Bar

found objectionable over two years ago is a sure sign of rehabilitation. Furthermore, there is no indication that any such conduct has been repeated. Mr. Rue clearly regrets his past conduct and there is no showing of any likelihood that it will be repeated.

The conduct the Bar points to is a series of unrelated <u>de</u>

<u>minimis</u> acts some of which Mr. Rue is not even responsible for.

They do not show a lack of good character.

ARGUMENT

THE REFERE'S FINDINGS AND HIS RECOMMENDATION THAT MR. RUE SHOULD BE REINSTATED TO PRACTICE ARE SUPPORTED BY THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND SHOULD BE ADOPTED BY THIS COURT.

After observing the testimony of the Petitioner and his expartner and current employer, Allan Ziffra, and after considering the 25 exhibits entered into evidence, some of which were composites, the referee made the following findings of fact:

Petitioner was suspended for 91 days by the Supreme Court of Florida effective October 20, 1994. The Florida Bar v Rue, Case No. 79,522 and 80,207, as reported at 643 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1991). He was also required to pass the ethics examination before reinstatement. Passage of the examination was accomplished on November 18, 1994.

Petitioner's disciplinary sanction was for various offenses including advancing living expenses to some clients, business transactions with clients without proper disclosure, sharing fees with his paralegals in the form of improper bonuses, and improper clauses in his contract.

At final hearing before the Referee, Petitioner testified and presented evidence through live testimony and through affidavits relating to his reputation and standing in the community.

In determining Petitioner's rehabilitation, I have been guided by the Supreme Court of Florida's decision in Petition of Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961). On page 474 of that Supreme Court listed decision, the consider elements in determining to rehabilitation. The Court listed those factors as:

(1) strict compliance with the specific conditions of the disciplinary order, such as payment of costs;

- (2) evidence of unimpeachable character and moral standing in the community;
- (3) clear evidence of a good reputation for professional ability;
- (4) evidence of a lack of malice and ill feeling by the Petitioner towards those who by duty were compelled to bring about the disciplinary proceedings;
- (5) personal assurances, supported by corroborating evidence, revealing a sense of repentance, as well as a desire and intention of the Petitioner, to conduct himself in an exemplary fashion in the future;
- (6) in cases involving misappropriation, restitution is important.

With the exception of point (6), which is inapplicable to the case at bar, I find that Petitioner has proven by clear and convincing evidence that he has met all of the criteria listed in Dawson. Petitioner has complied with the Supreme Court's regulations governing the closing of his practice and his employment suspended. The evidence Petitioner is held in high esteem by the community in which he practices and that he has an excellent reputation for professional Petitioner bears no malice or ill ability. will towards the Supreme Court, the grievance committee or The Florida Bar. He sincerely regrets his misconduct and he has corrected the deficiencies that led to his suspension.

Based upon my observation of Petitioner, I find his testimony to be credible. I believe his assurances that the misconduct that occurred in the past will never be repeated.

He then recommended that Petitioner immediately be reinstated to the practice of law.

As this Court stated in <u>The Florida Bar v Vannier</u>, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986)

A referee's findings of fact and recommendations come to us with a presumption

of correctness and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. (Citations omitted).

In <u>The Florida Bar v Rue</u>, 643 So.2d 1080, 1082 (Fla. 1994) this Court stated:

The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. (Citations omitted).

A referee's findings and conclusions are particularly important in subjective matters such as proof of rehabilitation. A referee's observations of an individual while they are testifying allows him to evaluate their credibility in a manner that is not available on appellate review. Here, the referee clearly opined that Mr. Rue had met the burden of proving rehabilitation and that he was a fit and proper person to be reinstated.

Mr. Rue's actions when compared with the <u>Dawson</u> criteria listed above gives ample support to the referee's conclusions. As soon as the Court's order suspending him came down, Mr. Rue assigned his stock in his former law firm, Rue & Ziffra, P.A. to Mr. Ziffra. He immediately ordered a cessation of all firm advertising. It was no fault of Mr. Rue's that it took approximately ten to twelve days for the stop orders to be completely implemented. Since the effective date of his suspension, October 20, 1994, Mr. Rue has met with but one client (and that to explain to her that he was suspended and could no longer represent her), has signed no pleadings (except

substitutions for counsel), has appeared in no court rooms, has negotiated with no adjusters or other counsel, has appeared at no depositions and has in no way practiced law. Mr. Rue has not signed up a single new client since his suspension began.

Mr. Rue's former law firm, Rue & Ziffra, P.A., is, for all intents and purposes defunct. Prior to his return to America, on October 23, 1994, Mr. Rue assigned his interest in the firm to Mr. Ziffra. Although it is still registered with the Secretary of State, it has no clients. It has signed up no clients since October 20, 1994 and all of its former clients are gone. The other partner in the firm, Allan Ziffra, has formed a new firm. All the new clients that he signed up are under his name. TR 34. Mr. Rue and Mr. Ziffra have not discussed what is going to happen to Mr. Rue when he is reinstated. TR 34.

Upon his return to the United States on November 2, 1994, Mr. Rue emphasized to the employees in the firm that he was suspended and that he should not deal with other individuals, Pet. Ex. 3. He has operated as an office manager for the law firm of Allan L. Ziffra, P.A. ever since.

As required by the Rules of Discipline, Mr. Rue timely submitted his Rule 3-5.1(g) affidavit to the Bar. Pet. Ex. 5 and 6. Mr. Rue promptly advised all of his clients, over 90 of them, of his suspension and sent them copies of this Court's disciplinary order. Mr. Rue did not stop there, however. To insure that there was no misunderstanding about his status with the Bar, he worked with Mr. Ziffra towards sending copies of the order of suspension

to all judges in the Seventh Judicial Circuit, to the defense firms with whom Rue & Ziffra, P.A. had been operating and to all insurance companies with whom the former firm had operated. The transmittal letters unequivocally put them on notice that Mr. Rue was suspended and that Allan L. Ziffra, P.A. would be taking over the clients' affairs.

Mr. Rue's respect for this Court and his adherence to the order of suspension is made evident by the letters that he sent out to the judges, defense counsel and insurance companies. He was not required to take that action; the fact that he was willing to publish his order of discipline to all who might be concerned emphasizes his good intentions. There is no evidence before this Court that any client has been harmed or inconvenienced by the transition from Rue & Ziffra, P.A. to Allan L. Ziffra, P.A.

Other than Mr. Rue's proper participation as a voice-over on a single ad for Mr. Ziffra's law firm, and Mr. Ziffra's placing of ads in three telephone books for 1995-1996 publications (the earliest of which was not to be published until January 28, 1995) TR 37, there is absolutely nothing that hints of unlicensed practice of law by Mr. Rue.

Mr. Rue promptly paid the \$8,992.56 in costs assessed against him in the underlying disciplinary proceedings. (Those costs constituted approximately one-half of the costs the Bar sought in the original disciplinary proceedings. In light of Mr. Rue's acquittal of the majority of charges brought against him, only half of those costs were assessed).

Mr. Rue, as allowed by Rule 3-6.1 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, went to work for Allan L. Ziffra, P.A. as a full time office manager upon his return to the United States. He filed the requisite notices, Pet. Ex. 7, with the Bar in a timely fashion. As required by Rule 3-6.1, Mr. Rue has not handled trust funds in any fashion since his suspension began. He has not received or disbursed any trust funds. He has signed no trust account checks. Although his name was not stricken as a signatory from the trust account, his access to the computer that wrote those checks was deleted. His name was covered over on all trust account checks. Clearly, he complied with the Bar's rules on trust accounting.

Mr. Rue also complied with Rule 3-6.1's requirement that he not meet with any clients during his suspension. The single exception to that rule was his meeting with one client, who had traveled from out of town to visit the offices, to explain to her that he could not be her lawyer any more.

As required by the Supreme Court's order of suspension, Mr. Rue has taken and passed The Florida Bar ethics exam. Pet. Ex. 9.

There can be no doubt that Mr. Rue has strictly complied with this Court's order of temporary suspension. He has not practiced law, i.e., represented clients, for nine months.

The second and third elements in <u>Dawson</u>, evidence of unimpeachable character, moral standing in the community, and good reputation for professional ability, were easily met by Mr. Rue. Mr. Ziffra attested to his good standing in the community and Mr.

Rue presented the testimony of six witnesses, by affidavit, attesting to his good reputation for both character and legal ability. Furthermore, he presented evidence to the referee of his continued dedication to community service. Pet. Ex. 12. In fact, in the original disciplinary proceeding, the referee noted with favor Mr. Rue's "active participation in local charity and civic organizations" Rue, p. 1082.

The Florida Bar presented no witnesses to testify that Mr. Rue had a bad reputation in the community or that he was not held in high esteem by his fellow practitioners. This was true despite the fact that it ran ads announcing his petition and despite numerous interviews by its investigator. Pet. Ex. 11, TR 120.

It might be added that none of the allegations in the underlying disciplinary proceedings showed a lack of professional competence by Mr. Rue. While suspended, Mr. Rue participated in numerous CLER courses, Pet. Ex. 10, and estimated that he took approximately thirteen hours of continuing legal education courses during that span.

While Mr. Rue has expressed concern about the Bar's treatment of him during the initial disciplinary proceedings and its procrastination in his reinstatement proceedings, he has shown no malice or ill will toward the Supreme Court, the referee in the underlying disciplinary proceedings, the grievance committee or the Bar's investigator Walt Taylor. TR 73-76. Accordingly, he has met the fourth element.

Perhaps the most important facet of reinstatement proceedings is the lawyer's attitude toward his past misconduct and whether there is reason to believe that it will occur in the future. In the case at Bar, there can be no such concern. Prior to final hearing in Mr. Rue's original disciplinary case in February 1993, he discontinued the conduct that led to his disciplinary proceedings. In fact, this Court noted with favor Mr. Rue's cessation of using improper clauses in his personal injury contracts immediately upon notice of the Bar's concern. Rue, p. 1082, 1083. Mr. Rue regrets his misconduct and there is no likelihood that it will happen again. His witnesses so testified.

The Bar strains to find conduct to use in its pre-determined decision to keep him out of the practice of law for as long a period as possible. In these proceedings, despite the fact that they could present no witnesses from the community or the Bar at large to oppose reinstatement, they have put together a series of isolated incidents, or occurrences for which Mr. Rue was not at all responsible, and said that it shows a lack of rehabilitation. The referee properly rejected their position.

The evidence shows, in fact it is unrebutted, that Mr. Rue has not practiced law in any manner since his suspension began. Petitioner rejects the Bar's position that advertising by Rue & Ziffra, P.A., constitutes practicing law. If nothing else, there is no showing that Mr. Rue has benefited from those ads. All new clients are Mr. Ziffra's. TR 34.

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